FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/27/2022 12:30 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100884-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT BIEHL and MICHELLE BIEHL Appellant v.

JOSEPH L. OSTEHLLER Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM
THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY
STATE OF WASHINGTON

The Honorable Judge Stephanie Arend

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS MARCH 28, 2022 DECISION IN 83414-2-I

Erin C. Sperger, WSBA No. 45931 Legal Wellspring, PS 2367 Tacoma Ave. S Tacoma, WA 98402 206-785-4486 Erin@LegalWellspring.com

i

| Та | ble of Contents |
|-----------------------|---|
| I. | INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER 1 |
| II. | COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1 |

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner, Dr. Joseph Ostheller, through his attorney, Erin C. Sperger, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ostheller requests review of the Court of Appeals' March 28, 2022 decision, which is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does the doctrine of invited error preclude the Biehls from challenging the summary judgment order on appeal when the trial court expressly gave them an opportunity to request the order be disregarded or modified, but instead of doing so the Biehls stated they were not asking the court to "overrule that decision" and that the court should follow it?
- B. When a month-to-month tenancy continues under an initial lease contract, but is then lawfully terminated by the landlord in accordance with RCW 59.18.200(a)(1), do a tenant's obligations under the lease terminate as a matter of law if they comply and vacate, regardless of whether his co-tenant vacates?
- C. When a landlord lawfully terminates a joint lease contract and one tenant complies and vacates but the other does not, does the landlord have to establish he or she entered into a new contract with the complying tenant who does not hold over in order

to hold the complying tenant contractually liable for rent and damages incurred after compliance with the lawful termination notice?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts relevant to this petition are set forth in Ostheller's response brief on appeal, which are incorporated by reference herein. In addition, the following facts are relevant:

A. Summary Judgment

Both parties moved for summary judgment submitting the following evidence:

In February 2015, Joseph Ostheller and Ruth Taylor signed a one year lease to rent a home from Robert and Michelle Biehl. CP 148. At the time the defendants signed the lease they were married. CP 46. Upon expiration, the lease converted to a month-to-month tenancy under the same terms. CP 148.

Ostheller and Taylor separated in August 2016 and Ostheller vacated the property. CP 48. They stopped acquiring community property and incurring community debt on August 21, 2016 when Taylor filed a petition for dissolution. CP 107.

It is undisputed the Biehls personally served Ostheller with a 20-day notice of termination of tenancy on December 10, 2016 while he was at the property. CP 47, 142. Likewise, the communications regarding the termination and holdover were undisputed because the parties communicated exclusively through text messages, which both parties submitted as evidence. Because the Biehls produced the text messages in discovery, the messages marked "sent" were initiated by the Biehls and the ones marked "received" were initiated by Taylor or Ostheller. CP 279-80. The following text messages were sent and received on December 31, 2016 the day the tenancy was terminated:

2016-12-31 18:50:59 Sent

... The month to month rental was also terminated with the 2nd set of documents that the attorney delivered at the same time. I discussed it with Joe that same day. So the rental terminates at midnight tonight... CP 281 (emphasis added).

2016-12-31 18:57:15 Sent

The attorney delivered the documents right to ur front door. Joe texted me to tell me he received them... CP 281.

2016-12-31 19:22:58 Received

Joe is wandering around like a deer in the headlights. I had intended... To negotiate directly with you for a fair solution and

an extension of one year to be stable as my mom passed away... CP 283.

2016-12-31 19:26:51 Sent

If you want to prepay 3 months at a rate of \$3500 per month ... I will extend it that far and see how it goes. CP 187

2016-12-31 19:29:48 Received

I cannot pay that and the plumbing is an issue you have had for years. I can pay our agreed rent but we have to resolve at some point the plumbing. I can pay Jan rent and agree to three months to sort all the other out. CP 283-84 (emphasis added).

2016-12-31 19:31:57 Received

I won't pay more than 2650. CP 284.

2016-12-31 19:34:53 Sent

Not gonna happen. I have it in writing from Joe that he received the documents at the house ... We will not be renting it for 2650 again I made u an offer and that's it. Lease is up at midnight. CP 284 (emphasis added).

2016-12-31 19:41:46 Sent

They were delivered to your house and Joe received them in person. **We terminated the month to month...** CP 285 (emphasis added).

2016-12-31 20:00:55 Sent

It's not a two-way street Ruth we delivered the documents to the house, as required by law, and they were received in person by one of the tenants... it's time to find another tenant.

... I made you an offer accept it or move, that's it. And don't worry my attorney will have no problem getting the money from Joe's practices. CP 286 (emphasis added).

2016-12-31 20:02:36 Received

Well. I don't accept it so I'll move but it won't be tonight and I will have an attorney tomorrow. CP 286-87.

The issue was not resolved that day, and the following conversation took place between January 12, 2017 and May 5, 2017:

2017-01-12 19:24:39 Sent

Ruth and Joe. It has been a couple weeks since I last heard from u and I have not received confirmation that u have moved and I have not received January rent yet...

Our attorney is ready to file the unlawful detainer with the court system, but I wanted to give you one last chance to get the back rent paid and get us a concrete schedule for you to move out... CP 287.

2017-01-12 22:21:26 Received1

I just talked to Ruth on the phone. She sounds like she is getting a cold or flu, and she asked me to communicate with you about the rent. She would li... CP 186

2017-01-12 22:21:32 Received

ke to have me pay you for the rent for Jan, and then on the first for the first 15 days of Feb. She promises to be out by feb 15. CP 186.

2017-01-12 22:23:14 Sent

You'll need to wire it in the morning. CP 186.

2017-01-12 22:30:03 Sent

¹ The Court of Appeals relied on this text message as evidence Ostheller negotiated an extension on December 31, 2016 but this conversation took place 12 days later on January 12 after Taylor had been holding over for 12 days.

And I told her if she got it paid ahead of time she could stay longer. I just do not want to have to wonder every month if the rent is going to come or not. CP 186.

2017-01-13 17:37:00 Received

Sorry, I already sent it via bill pay. CP 186.

2017-01-16 16:03:09 Received

The house she was posing to get by feb 15th went to someone else, so she is back to square one looking. I'll talk to her about where she is at in her se... CP 187.

2017-01-16 16:03:19 Received

...arch and pay you for February by the first. Is that agreeable? CP 187.

2017-01-19 16:03:09 Received

Still haven't received January rent check CP 187.

2017-02-04 16:36:55 Sent

Still don't have rent? Did she move CP 187.

2017-05-05 13:24:08 Sent

I understand your wife is still in the house haven't seen any rent yet for May what are we doing CP 187.

2017-05-05 13:24:23 Sent

Her attorney told me she was going to be gone by the end of April but I don't think that has happened (CP 187)

After a hearing on December 7, 2018, Judge Spier granted partial summary judgment in favor of Ostheller, concluding he was not liable for rent that accrued after December 31, 2016. CP 288-89.

B. Trial

Judge Arend presided over the subsequent bench trial. After trial, she asked the parties for supplemental briefing on whether the court was bound by Judge Speir's summary judgment ruling and what impact that ruling had on Judge Arend. RP 400. In their supplemental briefing, the Biehls stated, "Plaintiffs concede that Judge Spier's ruling is the law of the case at this level and do not request the current Court to overrule that decision." CP 349. Based on the Plaintiff's concession, Ostheller argued Judge Arend should apply Judge Speir's ruling because "the parties agree." CP 357.

In the trial court's letter ruling it, sua sponte, determined that it was not bound by the previous ruling, but because neither party requested it be modified, the court would "let it inform this Court as to the issues before it such that the ruling are consistent with one another. CP 375. The trial court further found the "only logical conclusion that can be drawn from Judge Speir's Order of December 7, 2018" was that "Because the tenancy [as to Dr. Ostheller] terminated, it follows that the obligations of Dr. Ostheller under the lease were also terminated on December 31, 2016. In other words, as of that date Dr. Ostheller was no longer a 'tenant.'" CP 376.

The trial court subsequently found "[n]o tenancy or contractual agreement existed between Dr. Ostheller and the Biehls after [December 31, 2016], so Ostheller had no obligation to pay rent after that date. CP 678-79. Based on the absence of a valid contract between Ostheller and the Biehls after December 31, 2016, the trial court also found Ostheller was not liable for damages to the landscaping, pond, or waterfall, lost rent, or personal labor performed to restore the property. CP 679-80. However, the Court awarded the Biehls \$6,593.78 in damages incurred on or before December 31, 2016. CP 677, 679, 682.

Both parties petitioned for attorney's fees. CP 380-487, 488-583. The trial court awarded Ostheller \$55,196.73 in attorney's fees and costs as the prevailing party on timber trespass, waste and six of the eight breach of contract claims. CP 664, 667. It awarded the Biehls \$29,928.36 in attorney's fees and costs as the prevailing party on two of the eight breach of contract claims. CP 664, 667. Because Ostheller's attorney's fees were more than the Biehls' fees plus their awarded damages, the trial court entered a judgment against the Biehls for the difference of \$18,674.59. The Biehls appealed.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals found the trial court erred by granting summary judgment because "there is evidence in the record of words and conduct manifesting an intent to continue Ostheller's joint tenancy after December 31, 2016." Biehl v. Ostheller, No. 834114-2-I, slip opinion at 14 (Mar. 28, 2022) (Herinafter "Opinion"). It further found that "because the trial court's findings and conclusions flowed from the summary judgment ruling that "[n]o tenancy or contractual agreement existed" between Ostheller and the Landlords after that date, we reverse and vacate the findings and conclusions as far as they relate to the erroneous ruling on summary judgment. We remand for trial on the issue of when Ostheller's tenancy ended, as well as the issues that flow therefrom. The trial court may then revisit its decision on attorney fees." Opinion at 14.

The Court of Appeals did not address whether the Biehls invited the error or whether the trial court abused its discretion in relying on the summary judgment order when the court gave the Biehls the opportunity to request the court revise the order but failed to do so and instead told the court they were not asking to "overrule that decision." CP 349.

Ostheller now timely petitions this Court for review.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. The Court of Appeals' decision finding the summary judgment order was erroneous and then reversing and vacating the trial court's findings and conclusion that flow from that order is in conflict with this Court's precedent regarding the invited error doctrine and is an issue of substantial public concern which this Court should address under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).
- 1. The Invited Error doctrine precludes the Biehls from challenging the summary judgment order on appeal.

Under the doctrine of invited error, "[t]his court will deem an error waived if the party asserting such error materially contributed thereto." *In re Dependency of K.R.*, 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995) (citing *State v. Pam*, 101 Wn.2d 507, 511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984)).

This Court has applied the doctrine even where there was no negligence or bad faith. *City of Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wn.2d 717, 58 P.3d 273 (2002)(citing *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999).

In *Studd*, six defendants proposed instructions that erroneously stated the law of self-defense. *Studd*, 137 Wn.2d at 545.

While some proposed an instruction that effectively remedied the error others did not. This Court held the defendants who proposed the erroneous instruction without attempting to add a remedial instruction had invited the error and could not therefore complain on appeal. *Studd*, 137 Wn.2d at 546-47.

Likewise, in *Dependency of K.R.*, this Court held that because the mother's counsel materially contributed to the erroneous application of the law during a hearing, she could not complain on appeal. Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d at 147. There, defense counsel motioned the court to admit testimony from both the state's and the defense's polygraph examiner. After the court granted the motion, defense counsel objected to the state's examiner's testimony because there was no written stipulation as required under State v. Renfro, 96 Wn.2d 902, 639 P.2d 737, cert. denied, 459 U.S. 842, 103 S.Ct. 94, 74 L.Ed.2d 86 (1982). Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d at 147. This Court held the defendant waived her right to object on appeal to the state's polygraph examiner's testimony because defense counsel materially contributed to the error by initially moving to admit polygraph testimony for both sides. Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d at 147.

Here, like the defendants in *Studd*, the Biehls erroneously stated the law. The summary judgment order was not final under CR 54(b), thus, it was "subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims." CR 54(b). The Biehls could have asked the trial court to either disregard it altogether or to modify it in some way. The Biehls did neither. Instead, the Biehls' counsel expressly stated the Biehls were not asking the court to "overrule that decision." CP 349. Like defense counsel in K.R., the Biehl's counsel materially contributed to the error. But here, there is an even more compelling reason to apply the invited error doctrine because despite the Biehls' erroneous application of the law, the trial court applied the right law. It applied CR 54(b) to determine it had authority to revise the summary judgment order but used its discretion not to revise it because the Biehls stated they were not requesting "the current Court to overrule that decision." CP 349

The Court of Appeals ignored the invited error doctrine, which promotes judicial efficiency, fairness, and finality of decisions. If the Court of Appeals' decision is allowed to stand it will undermine the public's faith in the judicial system and allow one party to unfairly cause the other party to incur unnecessary attorney's fees.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision reversing and remanding for trial the "issue of when Ostheller's tenancy ended..." conflicts with this Court's recent decision in *Spokane Airport Bd. v. Experimental Aircraft Ass'n*, _ Wn.2d _, 495 P.3d 800 (2021) because under *Spokane Airport*, Ostheller's tenancy ended on December 31, 2016 as a matter of law. It is also contrary to the plain and unambiguous language of RCW 59.18.200(a)(1) and RCW 59.12.030(2), which is an issue of substantial public concern that this Court should address under RAP 13.4(b)((1) and (4).

The Court of Appeals erred in reversing and remanding for trial the "issue of when Ostheller's tenancy ended..." because it directly contradicts the residential landlord tenant act (RLTA) and this Court's recent decision in *Spokane Airport Bd. v. Experimental Aircraft Ass'n*, __ Wn.2d __, 495 P.3d 800 (2021).

This Court reviews an order on summary judgment de novo. Spokane Airport Bd., 495 P.3d at 804. It may affirm on any grounds established by the pleadings and supported by the record. Lane v. Skamania County, 164 Wn. App. 490, 497, 265 P.3d 156 (2011).

In *Spokane Airport Bd.*, this Court held that "When a party properly exercises an option to terminate the lease, the lease terminates on the specified date and the leasehold ceases to exist."

Spokane Airport Bd., 495 P.3d at 807 (citing State v. Sheets, 48 Wn.2d 65, 68, 290 P.2d 974 (1955)).

A lease is a contract. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Westlake Park Assocs., 42 Wn. App. 269, 272, 711 P.2d 361 (1985). "A contract is a promise or a set of promises for the breach of which the law gives a remedy, or the performance of which the law in some way recognizes as a duty." Pope Res. LP v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, 494 P.3d 1076, 1092 fn. 150 (2021) (citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 1 (1971)).

Under the RLTA, a "tenant" is any person who is entitled to occupy a dwelling unit primarily for living or dwelling purposes *under* a rental agreement. RCW 59.18.030 (34) (emphasis added). Under RCW 59.18.200(1)(a) a landlord lawfully terminated a month-tomonth tenancy by serving a written notice of termination upon the tenant at least 20 days before the end of the month. RCW 59.18.200 (1)(a). If the tenant does not comply with that 20-day notice then he or she is liable for unlawful detainer. RCW 59.12.030(2).

Here, it is undisputed that the initial lease contract expired on January 31, 2016 but continued under the same terms as a month-

to-month tenancy. It is also undisputed that the Biehls personally served Ostheller with a notice of termination of tenancy on December 10, 2016, which terminated the tenancy on December 31, 2016. CP 284-85. Robert reiterated this in his text messages to both Ostheller and Taylor stating:

- "the rental terminates at midnight tonight [December 31, 2016]." CP 281
- "I have it in writing from Joe that he received the documents [the notice of termination of tenancy] at the house" CP 284.
- "They were delivered to your house and Joe received them in person. We terminated the month to month." CP 285.
- "I made u an offer and that's it. Lease is up at midnight." CP 284.

None of the evidence the Biehls submitted on summary judgment show they rescinded the termination notice or that there was some legal defect in the notice. Thus, as of midnight on December 31, 2016, the set of promises that comprised the contract terminated, including Ostheller's promises to maintain the Property and to guarantee Taylor's payment of rent.

Ostheller was no longer a tenant after December 31, 2016 because he was no longer entitled to occupy the dwelling unit under any rental agreement. RCW 59.18.030(34), .200(1)(a). If Ostheller had continued to occupy the unit, he would have been liable for

unlawful detainer. *Spokane Airport Bd.*, 495 P.3d at 807; RCW 59.12.030(2).

There are no disputed facts material to the issue of when Ostheller's tenancy ended; under black letter law and this Court's recent decision in *Spokane Airport Bd.*, 495 P.3d at 807 Ostheller's tenancy ended on December 31, 2016 as a matter of law. By reversing and remanding to trial the "issue of when Ostheller's tenancy ended," the Court of Appeals ignored the RLTA and this Court.

This Court should accept review of this issue to once again clarify how and when a tenancy is terminated, and that termination releases all parties from any further obligations under the contract.

C. It appears to be an issue of first impression in Washington whether a tenant who holds over after a tenancy is lawfully terminated can bind a tenant who complied with the notice and vacated. This Court should accept review because this is an issue of substantial public concern that this Court should address to provide some guidance to the lower courts under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court should accept review to clarify whether a landlord can hold a complying tenant contractually liable for damages incurred and rent accrued during another tenant's holdover period.

In 2020, Washington's population was 7,738,692. See United States Census Bureau 2020 Population and Housing State Data available at 2020 Population and Housing State Data (census.gov) (last visited 4/25/22). The owner-occupied housing unit rate from 2016-2020 is 63.3% meaning approximately 36.7% of the population, or 2,840,099 Washingtonians are tenants. U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts Washington Available at U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Washington (last visited 4/25/22). Thus, these issues relating to residential tenants are matters of substantial public concern because they will affect millions of Washington citizens.

Here, neither the summary judgment order, nor the trial court's findings and conclusions after trial were erroneous; Taylor's holdover did not contractually bind Ostheller, he did not contractually bind himself by entering into a new lease contract, and because he was no longer a tenant, and did not hold over, he owed no independent tort duty to the Biehls after Decembrer 31, 2016.

Summary judgment should be granted where "the pleadings... together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). A defendant meets this

burden by challenging the sufficiency of the plaintiff's evidence. Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). If the plaintiff's response "fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to her case, then the defendant's motion for summary judgment should be granted." Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990); Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225.

Here, the trial court properly granted partial summary judgment to Ostheller, and the trial court properly relied on that ruling because the Biehls failed to establish any legal theory under which Ostheller could be liable for rent accrued or damages incurred the after December 31, 2016.

1. Ostheller did not hold over

"Hold over" means "To retain possession as tenant of property leased, after the end of the term. Black's Law Dictionary, Revised 4th Ed. p. 864 "Hold over." Available at <u>Black'sLaw4th.pdf</u> (heimatundrecht.de) (last visited 4/25/22).

When a landlord lawfully terminates a tenancy under RCW 59.18.200(1)(a), the tenant no longer has a legal right to possess the property after the termination date because the set of promises that constituted the contract is terminated; the landlord is not obligated to allow the tenant to continue in possession after the termination date. RCW 59.12.030(2). Therefore, the only way a tenant could remain in possession is by physically possessing the property with his person, property, or subtenant. This is consistent with this Court's decision in *Spokane Airport* that "a tenant becomes a holdover when they *remain* after the modified (or unmodified) term expires." *Spokane Airport Bd.*, 495 Wn.2d at 805.

Here, Ostheller testified in his declaration that he vacated in August 2016 and began living with his father in Paulsbo. CP 47-48. The Biehls did not present any evidence to contradict or rebut Ostheller's testimony. Further, Taylor was not Ostheller's subtenant. Because Ostheller was not in physical possession of the property after December 31, 2016, this Court should hold that he did not hold over as a matter of law.

This Court should accept review of this issue because the Court of Appeals has expanded the law in a way that will hold

unintended parties liable. For example, many parents assist their adult children with negotiating rental terms and even paying rent on their behalf. This does not make the parent a party to the contract and does not automatically make the parent a guarantor of the rent or condition of the property. Because this issue will affect a large portion of Washington's citizens this Court should accept review to clarify whether one can hold over when they are not in physical possession of the property by person, property, or subtenant.

2. <u>Taylor's holdover did not bind Ostheller and did not make</u> <u>him contractually liable for rent accrued or damages</u> incurred after December 31, 2016

There does not appear to be any authority in Washington to suggest that when a landlord terminates a joint tenancy, he can hold a complying tenant liable for rent accrued and damages caused by the complying tenant's former joint tenant who holds over. On December 31, 2016 Ostheller and Taylor were legally separated; they stopped incurring community debt on August 21, 2016 and Taylor could no longer bind their marital community. Even in the light most favorable to the Biehls there is no theory under which Ostheller can be liable for the Taylor's hold over.

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