FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/24/2022 8:42 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100884-8 Court of Appeals No. 55216-7-II Trial Court No. 17-2-13272-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT BIEHL and MICHELLE BIEHL, Appellants,

vs.
JOSEPH L. OSTHELLER,
Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY STATE OF WASHINGTON

The Honorable Judge Stephanie Arend

ANSWER TO RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

KAREN E. RICHMOND WSBA 31618 RONALD D. RICHMOND WSBA 42438 1521 SE Piperberry Way # 135 Port Orchard WA 98366 360-692-7201

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Biehls assigned error to the original summary judgment ruling, which was not invited error.

Ostheller argues that the Biehls "invited error" by not demanding the lower court disregard the prior summary judgment motion under CR 54(b). Such argument misinterprets the concept of "inviting error" and misunderstands the nature of the appeal.

The Biehls' appeal clearly assigns error to the original summary judgment motion, decided on December 31, 2016. ¹³ It further assigns error to the later conclusions which appeared to be based on the trial court's reliance on the earlier summary judgment motion, such as finding that no contractual agreement existed between Dr. Ostheller and the Biehls after

¹² Biehl v. Ostheller, No. 834114-2-I, slip opinion (Mar. 28, 2022), cited herein as "Appellate Opinion."

¹³ Appellants' Brief, p. 1.

that date. 14

Further, the Biehls' memorandum of law on the applicability of the summary judgment order to the final verdict, while it does not request the court to overrule the prior ruling under CR 54(b), does specifically request the court to find that a contractual relationship did exist between the Biehls and Ostheller after that date:

Plaintiffs would contend, however, that Judge Spier's ruling, which is summary in nature and lacks factual findings, does not necessitate a finding that there was no contract from January 1, 2017 onward. It is equally consistent with a finding that the contract was on a month-to-month basis between the parties and its terms are governed entirely by the course of dealing shown between the parties at that time.¹⁵

The Biehls have never assigned error to the trial court's failure to modify the prior ruling under CR 54(b). That was not the basis for the appeal nor for the appellate court's ruling. Therefore, there is no error that was invited.

Although it is possible for a court to modify an earlier ruling under

¹⁴ Appellants' Brief, Appendix A, pp. 5-6.

¹⁵ CP 349

CR 54(b), nowhere in CR 54(b) is it required that a party request modification of a prior ruling in order to preserve that matter for appeal. Under RAP 2.2(d), appeal is available only on the final judgment of all claims, unless there is an express direction for entry of judgment and express determination, supported by written findings, that there is no just reason for delay. This rule also does not require the party to request the overturning of earlier orders in order to preserve their right to appeal once final judgment is entered.

The question of whether it is necessary to request a ruling to be modified under CR 54(b) should be looked at in the same manner as whether it is necessary to pursue an interlocutory appeal when it would be permissible under CR 54(b) and RAP 2.2(d). The Court in reviewing that question has determined these rules are clearly permissive rather than mandatory:

It therefore makes no sense to mandate an immediate appeal from a partial final judgment entered under CR 54(b), even though the judgment might qualify as appealable under RAP 2.2(d). Such a requirement would simply encourage multiple and perhaps unnecessary appeals in multi-party and multi-claim cases. 16

Similarly, requiring a party to request the court to revisit prior rulings is never mandated by the language of CR 54(b). Turning that possibility into a requirement would drastically increase the number of motions and the cost and timeliness of litigation as parties would find it necessary to constantly revisit prior rulings of the court in order to ensure their positions were preserved for appeal.

Ostheller's cases cited reference entirely different situations in which the party actively requested the error later appealed:

- Requesting specific language in a jury instruction, which they later wanted to appeal.¹⁷
- Moving to permit testimony from particular witnesses, and then objecting to that testimony being heard.¹⁸
- Setting up a case deliberately as a "test case" and failing to appeal

City of Seattle v. Patu, 147 Wn.2d 717, 719, 58 P.3d 273, 273 (2002)

¹⁶ Fox v. Sunmaster Products, Inc., 115 Wn.2d 498, 505, 798 P.2d 808, 812 (1990)

¹⁷ State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999);

¹⁸ In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132, 1141 (1995)

the underlying issues. 19

None of the cases cited have any relation to CR 54(b) nor are they remotely analogous situations. Each involve the appellant affirmatively requesting a particular action from the trial court and then claiming on appeal that action was error.

In contrast, here at most the appellant failed to avail himself of every theoretical opportunity to have the trial court reverse its own decision.

This is not an affirmative act that could be labeled "invited error." CR 54(b) is permissive, not mandatory. The Biehls never asked the court to find that there was no contractual relationship between the Biehls and Ostheller after December 31, 2016.

The appeal from the earlier partial summary judgment was timely made after final judgment. The Biehls also specifically requested that the trial court limit the application of the earlier summary judgment ruling, and assigned error when it failed to do so. No error was assigned on appeal based on a court action that was requested by the Biehls.

State v. Pam, 101 Wn.2d 507, 511, 680 P.2d 762, 764 (1984), overruled by State v.
 Olson, 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d 629 (1995)

B. The basis for the appellate courts' decision was the finding of a factual dispute, which raises no legal questions for further review.

Ostheller's remaining grounds for appeal all assert various legal issues on which the Court of Appeals purportedly ruled in error. However, none of the errors cited were in fact the basis for the Court of Appeals' decision, and therefore further review would provide no helpful guidance for the lower courts.

1. The appellate court's decision was consistent with Spokane Airport Board because it was based on the freedom of the parties to contract.

Ostheller claims that the appellate court's finding that there might have been a tenancy after December 31, 2016 contradicts the Supreme Court's recent ruling in *Spokane Airport Board*. ²⁰ It did not; instead, it was entirely consistent with the same rule of law as applied in *Spokane Airport Board*: that parties set the terms of their own agreements.

Spokane Airport Board had to do with a commercial lease, in which the landlord had exercised an early-termination option under the lease but the tenant refused to vacate. The Supreme Court held that the parties were bound by their actual agreement, and since the early

9

²⁰ Spokane Airport Bd. v. Experimental Aircraft Ass'n, Chapter 79, 198 Wn.2d 476, 495 P.3d 800 (2021).

termination option was part of the agreement, it operated to terminate the leasehold.²¹

The larger point of *Spokane Airport* is clearly that, as the appellate court held below, leaseholds are contracts.²² "Leases are conveyances whose covenants are interpreted under contract law, where we aim to ascertain the intent of the parties."²³ Their terms are controlled by the agreement and actions of the parties.

In *Spokane Airport* one party exercised a contractual option to terminate the lease, and the lease was terminated. In this case, the Biehls did terminate the lease, but then after that fact, Ostheller pleaded for them to extend the lease and occupancy continued. Just as parties can act to end a lease, they can also act to renew it.

What no court has ever held anywhere, certainly not in any case cited by Ostheller, is that once a lease is terminated it is impossible for the parties to enter into a new agreement. The parties remain free contractual agents and can enter into new arrangements at any time. The opinion below did nothing to hold that the parties could not terminate the leasehold

²¹ Spokane Airport Board, p. 488.

²² Appellate Opinion, p. 12

²³ Spokane Airport Board, p. 484

in December of 2016; it merely held that there was a dispute of fact over whether the subsequent actions of the parties renewed the leasehold.

2. The decision below did not raise the question of whether a tenant can be bound solely by the acts of a co-tenant, because the decision looked to Ostheller's actions, not those of his co-tenant.

Ostheller also claims that the court review is needed because

Washington courts have not addressed the question of whether one
holdover tenant can bind a co-tenant who vacated. Whether or not court
direction on this matter is needed, this is not the case to provide it. This
case is not based on Ostheller being bound by the actions of Taylor, but on
Ostheller being bound by his own actions: "Ostheller negotiated and
communicated with the Landlords about the rent, and he made most, if not
all, of the payments. And when Taylor moved out in July 2017, Ostheller
prepared the property for turnover, he alone returned the property to the
possession of the Landlords by accompanying Michelle during her inspection
of the property, and he signed the Move Out Inspection Report."²⁴

The court did note that it did not appear that physical presence on the premises was dispositive on its own, since Ostheller apparently had not physically lived at the property for several months, during a time in which

11

²⁴ Appellate Opinion, pp. 12-13

it was not disputed that he remained a party to the lease.

Ostheller argues that possession, and possession alone, is dispositive of whether a leasehold or contractual relationship exists between the parties. This is absurd. Ostheller cites no authority for his statement, "if a tenant vacates and is not holding over, then he has not formed a new tenancy, has no contract with the landlord and, thus, no contractual duties exist." No such authority exists; a tenant can enter into a new contract with the landlord at any time.

It is not the Court of Appeals that is in error in looking to contract law to interpret the lease; it is Ostheller who is in error in believe that a lease follows its own rules without regard to the actions and agreements of the parties.

Parties are free to contract in any number of ways. A tenant may negotiate a lease and for whatever reasons of his own, not occupy the property. That does not make the lease vanish or negate his obligations under the lease. The question is whether he has the right to possession, not the manner in which he exercises that right.

It is apparently uncontested that Ostheller remained a tenant from August through December of 2016, even though it appears that he did not in fact occupy it during that time. There is no reason why, therefore, he could not have entered into a continued lease after that date without

physically returning to the property.

3. The question of whether a contract existed is a question of fact properly remanded to the trial court.

Finally, Ostheller asserts that the Biehls failed to establish the elements of a contract "as a matter of law," and therefore review should be granted. However, Ostheller's arguments center on the words only of the parties, and entirely ignore that mutual assent may be shown instead by the actions of the parties. Washington follows the rule that it is the objective manifestation of the parties that governs a contract, and such objective manifestation may be deduced from *their acts and course of dealing*. ²⁵

It is not enough to say that the words of the parties did not ever settle on new contract terms; if the parties behave in a way that show they have an agreement, that can be sufficient to establish a new contract. Here, the appellate court found that there were sufficient actions, viewed in the light most favorable to the Biehls, to consider that the parties had entered into a new agreement.

Obviously this is a matter that is extremely fact-specific. The Court of Appeals' ruling was entirely consistent with existing case law on

²⁵ Hoglund v. Meeks, 139 Wn. App. 854, 870, 170 P.3d 37, 46 (2007).

contract interpretation, and the specific application of that case law to the facts of the case is an appropriate matter for remand, not review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Biehls never requested the court to find that Ostheller had no contract with them after December 31, 2016, and therefore did not invite the error; requesting reconsideration of preliminary rulings under CR 54(b) is not mandatory. The basis for the Court of Appeals' ruling was a finding of a factual dispute over whether a new contract was entered into, in compliance with well-established principles of contract and landlord-tenant law, and provides no reasonable basis for further review. The Court of Appeals' ruling should stand.